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Corporate Governance Report 
 

MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited (‘the Company’) is, as far as applicable, fully committed to the principles of the Code of Corporate  
Practices (the code) as set out in the King IV Report on Corporate Governance. 

In supporting the code, the directors recognise the need to govern the Company with integrity and in accordance with the generally 
accepted corporate practices. 

The Company is a special purpose public company and is a subsidiary of the MWAR Owner Trust. The Company has no employees, 
and its management function is outsourced to Merchant West Proprietary Limited. 

In the context of the above, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that it has complied with the principles and 
recommendations of the code, in all material respects, with regard to the period under review. 

1. Board of Directors 
The board consists of the following directors (refer to Director's Report note 7): 

2022 2021 

Independent non-executive 3 3 
Executive director 1 1 

4 4 

Please refer to the following link for a brief CV of each director: 
https://merchantwest.co.za/investor-relations/ 

 
The board has the following committees: 

Audit Committee 
Social and Ethics Committee 

2. Compliance with King IV 

The Company endeavours at all times to apply the principles of the King Code of Governance Principles for SA (King IV) in such a way 
that these requirements are met. For the period under review the board indicated that it was satisfied with the way in which the 
Company applied the recommendations of King IV, or put alternative measures in place where necessary. 
An explanation of how the King IV Code principles are applied in the Company can be found on the Merchant West  
website.       https://merchantwest.co.za/investor-relations/ 

3. Independent  advice 
A director or any member of a board committee may, if necessary, take independent professional advice at the expense of the  
Company. 

4. Company secretary 

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, who provides guidance to the board as a whole and to 
individual directors with regard to how their responsibilities should be discharged in the best interest of the Company. 

5. Audit committee 

The Board has concluded that the Audit Committee has fulfilled its responsibilities for the year under review in compliance with its 
terms of reference and statutory requirements. 

6. Social and Ethics committee 

The board has constituted a social and ethics committee to consider the company’s activities with regard to matters relating to social 
and economic development. The committee consists of at least three members elected by the board and the chairman is a non-
executive director of the board. The committee meets at least once annually and is accountable to both the board and shareholders. 

7. Remuneration committee 

The Company is a special purpose vehicle which does not employ any employees and no remuneration is paid. The independent non-
executive directors are provided by TMF Corporate Services (South Africa) Proprietary Limited and its fee for providing the service is 
agreed with Merchant West Proprietary Limited. The executive director receives no direct remuneration from the Company and is 
remunerated by Merchant West Proprietary Limited. 

8. Integrated sustainability reporting and disclosure 

The Company does not play an active role where the environment and the community are involved, therefore the integrated 
sustainability report will not form part of the Annual Financial Statements. 

9. Fundamental and affected transactions 

The Company does not conduct business with entities in which its directors have an interest. Directors are required to declare their 
directorships in other companies on an annual basis. 
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Audit Committee Report   
1. Members of the Audit Committee 

The members of the audit committee are all independent non-executive directors of the Company and include: 

Name 
M J Pitout (Chairman) 
R  Thanthony 
B L Dube 

The Committee is satisfied that the members thereof have the required knowledge and experience as set out in Section 94(5) of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011. 

2. Meetings held by the Audit Committee 

The Committee performs the duties laid upon it by Section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 by holding meetings with the key role 
players on a regular basis and by the unrestricted access granted to the external auditor. 

The Committee held two scheduled meetings during the 2022 financial year and all the members of the Committee attended all the 
meetings. 

3. External auditor 

The Committee satisfied itself through inquiry that the external auditor, PriceWaterhouseCoopers Inc. complies with the JSE Debt listing 
requirements 7.10(b). Mr HB Eksteen has been appointed as the designated auditor, and the firm is independent as defined by the 
Companies Act and as per the standards stipulated by the auditing profession. The Audit Committee, in consultation with executive 
management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. The audit fee for the external audit has been considered and approved for the 2022 
financial year end, taking into consideration such factors as the timing of the audit, the extent of the work required and the scope. No non-
audit services rendered for the financial year and hence no approval required by the Committee. 

The Committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees. 

The Committee recommends the appointment of external auditor and oversees the external audit process and in this regard the 
Committee  must: 

- Approve the annual audit fee and terms of engagement of the external auditor; 

- Monitor and report on the independence of the external auditor in the annual financial statements; 

- Define a policy for non-audit services and pre-approve non-audit services to be provided by the external auditor (if applicable);  

- Ensure that there is a process for the Committee to be informed of any reportable irregularities as defined in the Auditing 

Profession Act, 2005, identified and reported by the external auditor (if applicable); 

- Review the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process; 

- Consider whether the audit firm and where appropriate the individual auditor that will be responsible for performing the 
functions of auditor are accredited as such on the JSE List of Accredited Auditor and their advisers as required by the JSE Listings 
Requirements; 

- The Committee must determine that the individual auditor does not appear on the disqualified list. 

The Committee has been provided with all decision letters or findings issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditor ("IRBA"), or 
any other regulators, and any summaries relating to monitoring procedures or deficiencies issued by PriceWaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
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Audit Committee Report (continued)   

 

4. Annual financial statements 

Following the review of the annual financial statements the Committee recommended the Board approval thereof on 29 July 2022. 

5. Discharge of responsibilities and Audited Annual Financial Statements 

Following the review by the Committee of the audited annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 and based 
on the information provided to it, the Committee considers that, in all material respects, the Company complies with the provisions of the 
Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, the provisions of the policy and the JSE Listings Requirements, International Financial Reporting 
Standards “IFRS”, and that the accounting policies applied are appropriate. 
Following the review of the audited annual financial statements, the Committee recommended the Company’s 2022 audited annual 
financial statements for approval to the Board on 29 July 2022. 

The Committee further concurred with the Board and management that the adoption of the going-concern status in preparation of the annual 
audited financial statements is appropriate. 

6. Expertise and experience of finance function 

The on-going secretarial administration of the Company’s statutory records is done by Morestat Corporate Services Proprietary Limited, whilst 
accounting is managed by Merchant West Proprietary Limited. Nedbank Capital is the professional administrator of MW Asset Rentals (RF) 
Limited. 

The Committee satisfied itself that the composition, experience and skills set of the finance function met the Company’s requirements. 

7. Key Audit Matter 

In reviewing the Key Audit Matter ("KAM") the Audit Committee engaged with the auditor through the respective governance structures to debate 
and consider the KAM: 

- Impairments/ loss allowance of loans and advances to customers: 

The Audit Committee considered in detail the level of testing performed on the impairment/ loss allowance for future expected credit losses on 
loans and advances to customers. The Audit Committee also reviewed papers on the issue and are comfortable with the impairments/ loss 
allowance for future expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers raised. 

 

 

On behalf of the Audit Committee: 

 

 

 

 

MJ Pitout 

Chairman Audit Committee 
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Director’s Responsibilities and Approval 
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content 
and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that 
the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its 
operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). The external auditor 
is engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements. 

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied 

and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Company and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of 
directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to 
ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Company and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus 
of risk management in the Company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Company. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
loss. 

The directors have assessed the going concern of the Company for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in light of this review and the current financial 
position, they are satisfied that the Company has or had access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the controls over, and the security of the website and, where applicable, for establishing and 
controlling the process for electronically distributing annual reports and other financial information to shareholders and to the Companies 
and Intellectual Property Commission. 

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Company's annual financial statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by the Company's external auditor and their report is presented on pages 11 to 16. 

The external auditor was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of the shareholder 
and board of directors. The board of directors believes that all representations made to the independent auditor during their audit are valid and 
appropriate. 

The annual financial statements set out on pages 9 to 52, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the directors' report 
presented on pages 9 to 10 were approved by the board of directors on 29 July 2022 and were signed on their behalf by: 

Approval of financial statements 

R Thanthony P Lochner 

Director Director 

Sandton Sandton 

29 July 2022 29 July 2022 
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Director’s Report   
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited (‘the Company’)  
for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

1. Nature of business 

The Company is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa and is managed by Merchant West Proprietary Limited, the ultimate holding entity 
is the MWAR Owner Trust. The Merchant West Proprietary Limited group provides asset-based finance and related services to corporate and 
consumer clients. 

The Company is a ring fenced securitisation special purpose vehicle, and registered a R 2 500 000 000 loan receivables backed note programme 
with the JSE in November 2016, under which it issues notes from time to time. The proceeds of the notes are used to acquire additional 
participating assets from Merchant West Proprietary Limited or to refinance existing notes on the applicable scheduled maturity date. 

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Company's business from the prior year. 

2. Review of financial results and activities 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards “IFRS” and the requirements 
of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and JSE Listing Requirements. The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior 
year. 

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company are set out in these annual financial statements and, 
do not in our opinion, require any further comment. 

3. Holding entity 

The Company's ultimate holding entity is MWAR Owner Trust which is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with the ultimate controlling 
entity being Merchant West Proprietary Limited which is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. Refer to note 3 of the Annual Financial 
Statements. 

4. Share capital 

There have been no changes to the authorised or issued share capital during the year under review (refer to note 8). 

5. Dividends 

During the year under review, preference share dividends were declared amounting to R 30 000 000 (2021: R 0). 

6. Class A Floating Rate Notes 

The Company was able to issue Class A Floating Rate Notes totaling R300 000 000 during the year.  Class A Floating Rate Notes with a nominal 
amount of R 300 000 000 were issued on 22 November 2021, R200 000 000 of the proceeds were utilised to refinance notes maturing under 
Stock Code MWAR03 and R100 000 000 was used to purchase additional participating assets. These notes were issued at an interest rate of 3-
month JIBAR plus 220 basis points, which is 4% lower compared to previous issuances (JIBAR plus 230 basis points in February 2021). Refer note 
9 of the Annual Financial Statements. 

The Notes are not directly secured by any of the assets of the Issuer but MW Asset Rentals Security SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited) (the "Security 
SPV") executed the limited recourse Security SPV Guarantee in favour of the Secured Creditors (including the Noteholders). All payments to be 
made to the Secured Creditors (including the Noteholders) (whether made by the Issuer or the Security SPV) will be made in accordance with 
the Priority of Payments. The attention of investors is drawn to the section of this Programme Memorandum headed "Security Arrangements" 
for an understanding of the security structure relating to the Notes. 

A rating of AAA(za)(sf) has been assigned to the Class A Notes. The rating was reaffirmed by Global Credit Ratings on 13 June 2022. 



MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited 
(Registration  number  2002/030074/06) 
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

10 
 

 

Director’s Report (continued)  
 

7.     Directorate 
 

Directors 
R Thanthony 

M J Pitout 

BL Dube 

 
 

Designation Changes 

Independent non-executive (Chairperson) 

Independent non-executive 

Independent non-executive 

P Tredoux Executive related Resigned April 2021 

MJ Ross 
 
 

P Lochner 

Executive related Appointed April 2021; Resigned 
February 2022 

Executive related Appointed February 2022 

 
8. Significant events during the reporting period:  

 
Management’s assessments of the Russia/Ukraine conflict indicate that MW Asset Rentals (RF) operations and financial statements have been 
largely unaffected by the conflict with possible emerging risks being monitored on an on-going basis by the Company executive management 
team. 

9. Events after the reporting period 

The directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report that would have 
a material effect on the current years’ financial statements. Procedures performed by management up to 29 July 2022, did not identify additional 
information that requires judgements and estimates to be updated. 

10. Going concern 

The directors believe that the Company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and accordingly the 
annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company has no credit facilities or borrowings, other that the 
listed notes (refer note 9) and the subordinated loan (refer note 10). The directors have satisfied themselves that the Company is in a sound 
financial position and that there is sufficient demand for the Company’s listed notes to meet its foreseeable funding requirements. The Company 
intends to settle R450 000 000 Class A Floating Rate Notes by issuing new debt to the same value on the maturity date of 22 November 2022.  
The R450 000 000 has been classified as a current liability thereby reducing the current ratio in the current financial period, which the directors 
still deem to be reasonable. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the Company. The directors are 
also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may 
affect the Company. 

The directors have not identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
The ongoing impacts of Covid-19 was taken into account and the directors consider the going concern basis of accounting appropriate for the 
ensuing twelve-month period. 

11. Auditor 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. were appointed as auditor for the Company for 2022. 

12. Secretary 

The company secretary is Morestat Corporate Service Proprietary Limited. 
 
Business address: 235 Soetdoring Building 

7 Protea Road 
Doringkloof 
Centurion  
0157 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Juskei View, 2090 
Private Sunninghill Bag X36, , 2157, South Africa 
T: +27 (0) 11 797 4000, F: +27 (0) 11 209 5800, www.pwc.co.za 
 
Chief Executive Officer: L S Machaba 
The Company's principal place of business is at 4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, where a list of directors' names is available for inspection. 
Reg. no. 1998/012055/21,  VAT reg.no. 4950174682 

 
 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholder of MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements    

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited (the Company) as at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

What we have audited 

MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited’s financial statements set out on pages 9 to 52 comprise: 

● the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022; 

● the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

● the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

● the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

● the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other 
ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with 
the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). 
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Our audit approach 

Overview 

Overall materiality 

● Overall materiality: R 21 million, which represents 1% of total assets. 

Key audit matter 

● Impairments/loss allowance of loans and advances to customers 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 

misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made 

subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 

making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 

audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other 

matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud.  

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of the financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 

including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. 

These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 

nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both 

individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Overall materiality R 21 million 

How we determined it 1% of total assets 

Rationale for the 

materiality benchmark 

applied 

The Company is a securitisation special purpose vehicle created solely to 

acquire equipment finance agreements. The Company’s revenue is 

predominantly generated by the loans and advances to customers which 

is the core focus of the company’s activities. These loans and advances 

to customers are the majority of assets in the Company.  

We chose 1% of total assets, which is consistent with quantitative 

materiality thresholds used for asset-oriented companies. 

  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairments/loss allowance of loans and 

advances to customers  

The Company’s operations consist mainly of 

acquiring equipment finance agreements. The 

majority of assets therefore comprise loans and 

advances to customers, which are recognised at 

R 1.9 billion (2021: R 1.7 billion), net of loss 

allowance of R 50.05 million (2021: R 29.9 

million). Refer to accounting policy 1.4.1 and 

note 4 to the financial statements for disclosures 

relating to this matter.  

Management applies judgement in determining 

the expected credit loss (ECL) or loss allowance 

recognised in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standard 9: Financial 

Instruments (IFRS 9), specifically in the 

following areas:  

● The judgement involved relating to input 

assumptions and methodologies applied 

to estimate the probability of default 

(PD), exposure at default (EAD) and 

loss given default (LGD) within the loss 

allowance calculations; and 

●  The incorporation of forward-looking 

information (FLI) and macroeconomic 

inputs into the significant increase in 

credit risk (SICR) assessment. 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers 

was considered to be a matter of most 

significance to our current year audit due to the 

following: 

● The level of subjective judgement 
applied in determining the loss 
allowance on loans and advances; 

● The significance of the loans and 
advances to customers in the financial 
statements; and 

● The increased potential risk of material 
misstatement relating to the 
determination of the loss allowance in 
an environment characterised by 
uncertainty and economic stress. 

 

Our audit procedures relating to the impairment 

of loans and advances to customers included 

the following:  

● We obtained an understanding of the 

methodologies and assumptions used 

by management in the various ECL 

model components (PD, EAD and LGD) 

and how these components were then 

used to estimate the expected credit 

losses. We also obtained an 

understanding of how management has 

incorporated the impact of forward-

looking information, which includes the 

residual impact of COVID-19 and the 

current and expected economic strain 

into the ECL models. This was done 

through consideration of documentation 

and discussions with management. 

 Utilising our credit and actuarial expertise, we 

performed the following procedures: 

● We assessed the alignment of the ECL 

methodology with IFRS 9, by comparing 

the ECL methodology to the 

requirements of IFRS 9. We also 

compared any refinements in the ECL 

methodology to actual experience and 

industry practice. We noted no material 

inconsistencies; 

● We independently recalculated 

management’s credit ratings based on 

PwC’s interpretation of management’s 

documented rating methodology. No 

material exceptions were noted; 

● We independently recalculated 

management’s PDs based on PwC’s 

interpretation of management’s rating 

methodology and industry practice. No 

material exceptions were noted; 

● We estimated the lifetime PDs for all 

exposures. These PDs were applied to 

stage 1 exposures with remaining 

maturity less than one year and all 

stage 2 exposures.  We estimated 

lifetime PDs by scaling industry term 

structures to the match estimated PDs 

produced by management’s models. No 

material exception was noted; 
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● We independently recalculated 

management’s LGDs based on 

interpretation of management’s 

methodology and documented 

assumptions. Judgemental assumptions 

that we needed due to insufficient 

internal data was assessed through 

benchmarking of external data. For a 

sample this included the verification of 

the existence of collateral on the deal by 

inspecting contract inception 

documentation and ensuring that the 

collateral was reflected in the LGD. No 

material exception was noted; 

● We estimated the EAD using an 

exposure rundown approach based on 

the remaining term of the exposure. We 

compared this calculated EAD to the 

EAD applied by management, and no 

material exception was noted; 

● We assessed the impact of moving 

accounts over and above the 30-day 

backstop into stage 2. The volume of 

accounts moved into stage 2 was a 

multiple of the 12-month PD, as this 

represents the portfolio risk and 

therefore also the proportion of the 

portfolio where there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk. No 

material exception was noted; 

● For a sample of loans and advances to 

customers, we performed inputs testing 

to obtain comfort over the accuracy of 

the data by agreeing the data applied by 

management in their ECL calculation to 

underlying supporting documentation. 

No material exceptions were noted; 

● We assessed the impact of forward 

looking information (FLI) through the 

calculation of an independent FLI 

adjustment based on external market 

data and key economic drivers of credit 

risk. No material exceptions were noted. 
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Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the document titled “MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited Annual financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2022”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit 

Committee Report and the Company Secretary’s Decleration as required by the Companies Act of 

South Africa. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 

Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control.  

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  
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● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

● Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 

to cease to continue as a going concern.  

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 

We also provide  the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 

taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 

audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements   

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, 

we report that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited 

for two years. 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  

Director: HB Eksteen 

Registered Auditor  

Johannesburg, South Africa  

29 July 2022  
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2022 
 

 

Figures in Rand Notes 2022 2021 
 

 

 
Assets 
Non-Current Assets 
Loans and advances to customers 4  1 195 870 067 1 112 755 443 

  1 195 870 067 1 112 755 443 
 

Current Assets  

Loans and advances to customers 4 741 364 358 650 170 600 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 143 716 213 153 837 736 
Amounts due from group companies 6 39 445 050 33 074 037 
Other receivables 7 - 5 190 203 
Current tax receivable    - 5 200 757 

    924 525 621 847 473 333 
Total Assets    2 120 395 688 1 960 228 776 

 

Equity and Liabilities  

Equity    
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent    
Share capital 8 121 121 
Retained income  311 201 831 262 163 113 

  311 201 952 262 163 234 
 

Liabilities 
Non-Current 
Borrowings – listed notes 

 
 

9 

 
 

1 100 000 000 

 
 

1 250 000 000 
Subordinated loan 10  221 399 156  221 399 156 
Deferred tax 11   18 233 517  16 283 911 

  1 339 632 673 1 487 683 067 

Current Liabilities 
Borrowings – listed notes 

 
9 

 
459 987 566 

 
208 470 364 

Subordinated loan 10 780 223 664 416 
Trade and other payables 12 2 166 407 1 247 695 
Current tax payable  6 626 867 -   

469 561 063 210 382 475  
Total Equity and Liabilities 2 120 395 688 1 960 228 776 
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   Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
 

Figures in Rand Notes 2022 2021 
 

 
 
Interest  income 

 
 

13 

 
 
                   224  802 943 

 
 

186 668 318 

Interest  expense 14 (118 142 776) (93 336 368) 

Net interest income  106 660 167 93 331 950 
Non-interest income 15 26 003 294 26 733 808 

Total income  132 663 461 120 065 758 
Impairment charges 16 (19 930 131) (3 868 217) 

Gross income  112 733 330 116 197 541 
Other operating expenses 17 (3 020 057) (2 999 676) 

Profit before taxation 18 109 713 273 113 197 865 
Taxation 19 (30 674 553) (29 828 189) 

Total profit for the year  79 038 720 83 369 676 

Other comprehensive income   -  -   

Total  comprehensive income for the year 79 038 720 83 369 676 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

Figures in Rand Share capital Retained Income    Total equity 
 
Balance at 01 April 2020 

 
121 178 793 435 178 793 556 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Dividends 

- 83 369 676 83 369 676 
- - - 

Balance at 31 March 2021 121 262 163 111 262 163 232 
Total comprehensive income for the year - 79 038 720 79 038 720 
Dividends   - (30 000 000) (30 000 000) 
Balance at 31 March 2022   121 311 201 831 311 201 952 
Note 8 

`
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    Statement of Cash Flows 
 

Figures in Rand Notes 2022 2021 
 
 
Cash flows from / (utilised in) operating 
Cash generated from operations 
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29 092 152 

 
 
 

18 366 787 

Income taxes paid 21 (16 897 323) (27 194 863) 

Net cash flows from loans and advances to customers  (182 584 692) (567 949 216) 

Increase of amounts due from group companies 6 (6 371 013) (19 052 161) 
Interest received 13  213 149 120 184 688 492 

Net cash from / (utilised in) operating activities  36 388 244 (411 140 961) 

Cash flows (utilised in) / from financing activities    
Proceeds from notes issued 23 300 000 000 800 000 000 

Repayment of notes 23 (200 000 000) (300 000 000) 

Payment of interest on notes 23 (86 107 678) (67 361 219) 

Proceeds from subordinated loan 23 - 75 754 156 

Payment of interest on subordinated loan 23 (30 402 089) (27 204 614) 
Dividends paid 22  (30 000 000) -   

Net cash (utilised in) / from financing activities  (46 509 767) 481 188 323 

Total cash and cash equivalents movement for the year 

 

 

 

 (10 121 523) 70 047 362 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  153 837 736 83 790 374 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 143 716 213 153 837 736 
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1. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below: 

1.1. Basis of preparation 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its 
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants’ 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Listings Requirements, and the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended. 

The financial statements are presented in South African Rands (“Rands”), rounded to the nearest rand. They are prepared on the basis 
that the Company is a going concern, using the historical cost basis of measurement, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. Expenses recognised in profit or loss are analysed by function (refer to note 17). 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 2. 

1.2. Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent 
in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include: 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented separately below), that the directors 
have made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
financial statements. 

Loans and advances to customers under IFRS 9 

Expected credit loss ("ECL") assessment 

As explained in note 1.4.1, Expected credit losses ("ECL") are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL 
for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. 

The quality of loans and advances to customers depend on the credit risk of the underlying customers. To determine this a scientific internally-
generated credit rating methodology is used, based on quantitative and qualitative information. This takes into account any historic default 
experience, the financial positions of the counterparties as well as the future prospects in the industries in which the counterparties operate or 
are employed. This information has been obtained from the counterparties themselves, as well as from economic reports, financial analyst 
reports and various external sources of actual and forecast data and is applied to estimate a probability of default (“PD”) occurring as well as 
estimating the loss upon default.  For the prior year (year ended 31 March 2021) all credit ratings were downgraded by one risk grade, as an 
overlay for increased risk, due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
To determine the ECL, a Loss Given Default (“LGD”) is applied, based on the asset class of the underlying equipment. During the year the LGD 
tables were refined into more detail and also taking into account the quality and age of the underlying equipment. 
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1.2  Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

The three-stage approach to ECL IFRS 9 requires entities to recognise ECL based on a stage allocation methodology, with such 
categorisation informing the level of provisioning required. IFRS 9 has been applied and the Company defines stage 2 loans and advances as 
accounts with arrears more than 30 days, but less than 90 days for all clients (these are also referred to as non-performing loans or "NPL") 
or there is other evidence that the asset’s credit risk has significantly increased, unless the account has been defined as stage 3. 

The Company defines stage 3 loans and advances (default) as: 

- Accounts that are in arrears for more than 90 days for all clients;  

- The customer has entered business rescue or liquidation; 

- There is suspected fraud that has been committed; 

- A decision has been taken by management to hand the account over to the legal department based on any other indication of credit 
impairment. 

1.3. Reportable segments 

The entity has only one reportable segment relating to the acquisition of advances and issuing of notes to the market and all of these 
counterparties reside in the Republic of South Africa. 

1.4. Financial instruments 

Financial instruments held by the Company are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 

All financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and fees. Broadly, the classification 
possibilities, which are adopted by the Company, as applicable, are as follows: 

Financial assets which are debt instruments: 

- Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model whose 
objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows). 

Financial liabilities:  

-   Amortised  cost. 

Note 25, Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Company based on their specific  
classifications. 

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the Company 
are presented below: 

1.4.1. Financial  assets Classification 

The Company holds loan and advances to customers (note 4) with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows in terms of asset-backed 
financing agreements. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. Therefore, the Company measures the financial asset at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
subject to impairment. The company sells certain financial assets to the originator, in order to manage the credit risk of loans and advances 
to customers to maintain the quality of the loan book and the AAA rating. These sales are where assets have increased in credit risk and 
are incidental. 
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1.4.1.   Financial assets (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 5) compromise bank balances. They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of the 
loans and advances to customers give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding and related fees, and the Company's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows. 

Amounts due from group companies (note 6) comprise of cash and cash equivalents collected by Merchant West Collections SPV 
Proprietary Limited as an agent for MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited. 

Impairment / loss allowance 

Exposure to credit risk: 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the gross carrying amount of the loan debtors as presented above. 

Credit Rating framework 

Loans and advances to customers:

 
Internal credit grade Description 

 
Basis for recognising 
expected credit losses 

 

Performing Low risk of default 12m ECL 
Significant increase in credit risk 

 
 
 

Default / write-off 

Either NPL status or there is other 
evidence that the asset’s credit risk has 
significantly  increased 

 
Evidence that the financial instrument is at 
default or there is evidence indicating that 
the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery as assessed by management 
on a case by case basis. 

Lifetime ECL 

Lifetime ECL (credit  
impaired )/Amount is written off,   
except for the value of  proven  
security     

    Loans and advances to customers: 

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers that are measured at amortised cost. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

For all financial instruments, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on the gross carrying amount (stage 1 loss 
allowance). 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

The Company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, based on the gross carrying 
amount (stage 2 loss allowance). Should the financial instruments be considered at default (stage 3 loss allowance), the lifetime ECL will be 
calculated on the amortised carrying amount. Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial instrument. 

Ancillary rental income relates to payments received on leases that have not been terminated by the client at the end of the lease 
term. Any ancillary rental income raised at the end of the reporting period but not received within two months after the reporting period is fully 
provided as a stage 3 loss allowance. The ECL policy relating to ancillary rental income reflects the higher risk of defaults on this revenue stream.
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 1.4.1.   Financial assets (continued) 

Significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2 loss allowance) 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company compares the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at 
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward 
looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Company’s debtors operate, obtained from 
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration 
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Company’s core operations. 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition: 

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;  

- existing  or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic  conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease 
in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations; 

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;  

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor that 

results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

Credit impaired financial assets and write off policy (Stage 3 loss allowance) 

A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial 
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about the following events: 

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to 

the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 
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1.4.1.   Financial assets (continued) 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is 
a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 
forward looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date. 

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring 
the lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases. 

If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting 
period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Company measures the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date. 

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to 
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. Transfers of ECL occur when the credit stage of an account at the end of the 
year differs from that at the beginning of the year. Any movements in the amount of ECL which arise as a direct result of the change in 
credit stage are included in the "movements for the year" line. 

Loans to group companies: 

Loans to group companies inherently expose the Company to credit risk, being the risk that the Company will incur financial loss if 
counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due. 

An analysis is performed at each reporting date to determine whether Company loans are performing or are in default. 

The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience 
indicates that loans to Group companies that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable: 

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the borrower; or 

- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the borrower is unlikely to pay its creditors (including the 
Company), in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Company); or 

- the borrower has insufficient liquid assets to settle the loan. 

Derecognition 

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 

Modification 

Where an existing financial asset or liability is replaced by another with the same counterparty on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing financial asset or liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
asset or liability and the recognition of a new asset or liability at fair value, including calculating a new effective interest rate, with the difference 
in the respective carrying amounts being recognised in other gains and losses on financial instruments within non-interest revenue. 

The date of recognition of a new asset is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes. If the 
terms are not substantially different for financial assets or financial liabilities, the group recalculates the new gross carrying amount by 
discounting the modified cash flows of the financial asset or financial liability using the original effective interest rate.
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1.4.1. Financial assets (continued) 

The difference between the new gross carrying amount and the original gross carrying amount is recognised as a modification gain or 
loss within credit impairments (for distressed financial asset modifications) or in other gains and losses on financial instruments within non-
interest revenue (for all other modifications). 

1.4.2. Financial liabilities Classification 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of financial 
liabilities are added to the fair value of the financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

Borrowings (note 9), Subordinated loan (note 10) and Trade and other payables (note 12) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. 

Application of the effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points 
margin paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

Derecognition 

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

1.5. Tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities 

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and 
prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. 

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) 
the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from: the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit 
(tax loss) and is not a business combination; or the initial recognition of goodwill. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from: the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss) 
and is not a business combination; or the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
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Accounting Policies 

1.5    Tax (continued) 

Tax expense 

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the 
tax arises from: 

- a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or a business combination. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or 
a different period, directly in equity. 

1.6. Share capital and equity 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Incremental external costs directly attributable to a transaction that increases or decreases equity are deducted from equity, net of related tax. 
All other share issue costs are expensed. 

Non-redeemable preference shares with discretionary dividend features are classified as equity. 

Dividend distributions made to equity holders are recognised as a reduction in equity when they are appropriately authorised and are no longer 
at the discretion of the entity. 

1.7. Interest  income 

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method. 

1.8. Revenue 

The entity's principal revenue streams are derived from the financing of assets, together with ancillary fees (admin fees and insurance charges). 

Interest income: 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method over the lease term. 

Non-interest  income: 

Non-interest income comprises of ancillary rental income, settlement profit and fee income which are recognised on an accrual basis, unless 
included in the effective interest rate. Ancillary rental income relates to payments received on expired leases that have not been terminated by 
the client at the end of the lease term. Revenue from ancillary rentals is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. 
Settlement profit relates to the fees earned when a client early settles their contract. Revenue for the settlement profit is recognised at a point 
in time when the agreement is settled. Fee income relates to administration and service fees and the revenue is recognised over a period of time 
as performance obligations are met. 

1.9. Operating  expenses 

Operating expenditure comprises of expenditure incurred in the day-to-day operating activities of the company and is recognised in 
profit or loss as the services are received. 

1.10. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred using the effective interest rate method. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial statements   
2. New Standards and Interpretations 

Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the entity's financial statements are 
presented below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on 
the entity's annual financial statements. 

2.1. Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year 
and that are relevant to its operations: 

 
Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: Expected impact: 

Years beginning on or after 
- IFRS  16,  ‘Leases’  COVID-19-Related  Rent 

Concessions Amendment 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, IAS 
39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, 
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, IFRS 4 ‘Insurance 
Contracts’ and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ – interest rate benchmark 
(IBOR) reform (Phase 2) 

- Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ on Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 
current 

1 June 2020 
 
 
1 January 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
1 January 2022 

The impact of the standard is not 
material 

 

The impact of the standard is not 
material 

 
 
 
 

The impact of the standard is not 
material 

- Amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ 1 January 
2022 

The impact of the standard is not 
material 

- Amendments to IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Assets’ 
on Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

1 January 2022 The impact of the standard is not 
material 

 
-   Annual improvements cycle 2018-2020 1 January 2022 

 
 
 

2.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective 

 
The impact of the standard is not 
material

 
At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, certain new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the entity. Management anticipates 
that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the entity's accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of 
the pronouncement. 

 
The Financial Stability Board has initiated a fundamental review and reform of the major interest rate benchmarks used globally by financial 
market participants. This review seeks to replace existing interbank offered rates (IBORs) with alternative risk-free rates (ARRs) to improve 
market efficiency and mitigate systemic risk across financial markets. The South African Revenue Bank ("SARB") has indicated their intention 
to move away from JIBAR and to create an alternative reference rate for South Africa. This reform is at various stages globally, a suitable 
alternative for South Africa is only expected to be announced in a few years’ time. Accordingly, there is uncertainty surrounding the timing 
and manner in which the transition would occur and how this would affect various financial instruments held by the group. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial statements   
2.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued) 

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory 
for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 or later periods: 

 
Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:      Expected impact: 

Years beginning on or after  
 

- Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment for  1 January 2022 
proceeds received before intended use 

 
Unlikely there will be a material impact. 

 

- Amendment to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of 
Fulfilling a Contract 

1 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a material impact. 

 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 
2022 

 
- Amendments resulting from annual improvements   2018-  1 January 2022 

2020 Cycle for the following standards 

Unlikely there will be a material impact.   

Unlikely there will be a material impact. 

 
- Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual 

Framework 
 

- Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current 

 
- Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Error 

 
- Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
 

- Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets 
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 

 
1 January 2022 

 

 
1 January 2023 

 
 

1 January 2023 
 
 

1 January 2023 
 

 
1 January 2023 

 
Unlikely there will be a material impact. 

 

 
Unlikely there will be a material impact. 

 
 

Unlikely there will be a material impact. 
 
 

Unlikely there will be a material impact. 
 

 
Unlikely there will be a material impact.

 

3. Controlling entities 

The MWAR Owner Trust holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares of MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited. 

In terms of the International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, an entity is consolidated 
when it is controlled by an investor. Control is achieved when the investor is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, an investor controls an investee if and only if the investor has power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities): exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the Investee and the ability to use 
its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Merchant West Proprietary Limited has full control over the management function of MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited and thus has existing 
rights and the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the Company in the form of directing its business operations and activities. 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited also has rights to variable returns in the form of dividends and has the ability to use its power over 
the Company in the form of management services in order to affect its returns. 

In terms of IFRS 10, the Company is regarded to be controlled by Merchant West Proprietary Limited and is consolidated in the annual 
financial statements of Merchant West Proprietary Limited which is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. 
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Figures in Rand                         2022                2021 
 

 
 

 
4. Loans and advances to customers 
Corporate and SME 
 
Gross investment in the lease due 

 

- within one year 978 371 958 853 095 870 
- in second year 682 158 489 633 277 565 
- in third year 428 851 809 385 862 752 
- in fourth year 206 043 125 196 727 141 
- in fifth year 51 889 640 60 800 107 
- later than five years  877 395 6 175 466   

 2 348 192 416 2 135 938 901 
less: Unearned finance income 
- within one year 

 
(190 006 677) 

 
(176 217 736) 

- in second year (109 102 150) (102 480 269) 
- in third year (50 452 756) (47 932 948) 
- in fourth year (16 003 463) (16 868 185) 
- in fifth year (2 383 527) (2 969 088) 
- later than five years  ( 13 463) ( 357 698)   
Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 

 
Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments 

1 980 230 380 1 789 112 977 
 

  (50 016 404) (29 864 556)   
1 930 213 976 1 759 248 421 

 

 
Present value of minimum lease payments due (Net investment in lease) 

- within one year 

 
 

788 365 281 

 
 

676 878 134 
- in second year 573 056 339 530 797 296 
- in third year 378 399 053 337 929 804 
- in fourth year 190 039 662 179 858 956 
- in fifth year 49 506 113 57 831 019 
- later than five years 863 932 5 817 768 

 1 980 230 380 1 789 112 977 
Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments   

  (50 016 404) (29 864 556)   
1 930 213 976 1 759 248 421 

 

 
Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current assets 1 191 865 098 1 112 234 843 
Current assets  738 348 878 647 013 578   

1 930 213 976 1 759 248 421 
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Figures in Rand                                2022                  2021 
 

 

 
 

4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
Government 

 

Gross investment in the lease due 
 
- within one year 

 
 

4 083 115 

 
 

3 527 266 
- in second year 3 804 978 413 364 
- in third year 
- in fourth year 
- in fifth year 

657 629 
- 
- 

165 756 
- 
- 

- later than five years  - -   

 8 545 722 4 106 386 
less: Unearned finance income 
- within one year 

 
(1 031 939) 

 
( 318 904) 

- in second year ( 416 328) ( 49 360) 
- in third year 
- in fourth year 
- in fifth year 

( 41 311) 
- 
- 

( 9 160) 
- 
- 

- later than five years  - -   

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 
 

Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments 

 
7 056 144 3 728 962 

 
  ( 35 695) ( 51 340)   

7 020 449 3 677 622 
 

 

Present value of minimum lease payments due (Net investment in lease) 

- within one year 3 051 176 3 208 362 
- in second year 3 388 649 364 004 
- in third year 616 319 156 596 
- in fourth year - - 
- in fifth year - - 
'- later than five years - - 

 

7 056 144 3 728 962 
Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments  

  ( 35 695) ( 51 340)   
7 020 449 3 677 622 

 

 

Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current assets 4 004 968 520 600 
Current assets  3 015 481 3 157 022   

7 020 449 3 677 622 
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Figures in Rand                               2022                2021 
 

 

 
 

4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 

Gross investment in the lease due 

- within one year 

 
 

982 455 073 

 
 

856 623 136 
- in second year 685 963 467 633 690 929 
- in third year 429 509 438 386 028 508 
- in fourth year 206 043 125 196 727 141 
- in fifth year 51 889 640 60 800 107 
- later than five years  877 395 6 175 466   

 2 356 738 138 2 140 045 287 
less: Unearned finance income 
- within one year 

 
(191 038 616) 

 
(176 536 640) 

- in second year (109 518 478) (102 529 629) 
- in third year (50 494 067) (47 942 108) 
- in fourth year (16 003 463) (16 868 185) 
- in fifth year (2 383 527) (2 969 088) 
- later than five years ( 13 463) ( 357 698) 

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable            1 987 286 524 1 792 841 939 
Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments  (50 052 099) (29 915 896)   

1 937 234 425 1 762 926 043 

 
Present value of minimum lease payments due (Net investment in lease) 

  
- within one year 791 416 457 680 086 496 

- in second year 576 444 989 531 161 300 
- in third year 379 015 371 338 086 400 
- in fourth year 190 039 662 179 858 956 
- in fifth year 49 506 113 57 831 019 
- later than five years  863 932 5 817 768   

 
Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments 

1 987 286 524 1 792 841 939 
 

  (50 052 099) (29 915 896)   
1937 234 425 1762 926 043 

 

 

Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current assets 1 195 870 067 1 112 755 443 
Current assets  741 364 358 650 170 600   

1 937 234 425 1 762 926 043 
 

 

Loans and advances to customers have been presented into the following classes during the current 
year: 

- Corporate and SME 

- Government 

The prior year information has also been re-presented to take into account the above classes. 

Class A Floating Rate Notes of R 1 559 987 566 (2021: R1 458 470 364) of the Company are secured by cession of the loans and advances to 
customers (refer to note 9). Leases are entered into at market-related terms and the average term of the leases are 49 months (2021: 49 
months). Refer to note 25 for details on credit risk management. 

Credit quality of finance lease receivables 

The quality of loans and advances to customers depend on the credit risk of the underlying customers which are calculated by a scientific 
internally generated rating methodology.
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Figures in Rand     
 

 

 
4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 
Credit loss allowances 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of expected credit losses for loans and advances to 
customers by credit rating grade: 

 
  

2022 
 

Instrument Internal credit 
rating 

 

Basis of loss 
allowance 

 

Net investment in 
lease 

 
Loss allowance Carrying amount 

 
 

Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 1 

Advances to customers (government) - Stage 1 

 
Performing 12m ECL 

 
Performing 12m ECL 

 
1 912 088 752 (25 638 997) 1 886 449 755 

 
7 056 144 ( 35 695) 7 020 449 

 
 

Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 2 

 
 
Significant 
increase in credit 
risk 

 
 
Lifetime ECL 

 
 

24 764 368 (3 480 816) 21 283 552

 
 

Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 3 

 
 
Default Lifetime ECL 

 
 

  43 377 260 (20 896 591) 22 480 669   
 

1 987 286 524 (50 052 099) 1 937 234 425 
 

 
2021 

 
Instrument Internal credit 

rating 

 

Basis of loss 
allowance 

 

Net investment in 
lease 

 
Loss allowance Carrying amount 

 
 

 
Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 1 

 
    Performing    12m ECL 
 

 
  1 713 271 430 (11 256 405)             1 702 015 024

    Advances to customers (government) - Stage 1 
 
 

Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 2 

  Performing
  
 

Significant 
increase in 
credit risk
  

12m ECL 
 
 
Lifetime 
ECL 

   3 728 962   ( 51 340)              3 677 622 
  

 
 

     15 070 812 ( 619 075)                  14 451 737

    Advances to customers (corporate and SME) - Stage 3 Default                   Lifetime ECL &  
                                                                                                                                                 Amount written off               60 770 736   (17 989 076) 42 781 660   

1 792 841 939 (29 915 896) 1 762 926 043 
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Figures in Rand  
 

 

 
4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of loans and advances to customers 
Corporate and SME 
2022  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 713 271 430 15 070 812 60 770 736            1 789 112 978 
Transfers *  -  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 1 8 050 204 (8 050 204) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 (14 450 595) 16 488 238 (2 037 643) - 
Transfer to stage 3 (23 245 880) ( 723 287) 23 969 167 - 
Net movements for the year 228 463 593 1 978 809 (39 325 000) 191 117 402 
Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount) 
New financial assets purchased ** 
Financial assets that have been derecognised 

 

Credit losses written-off ***  - - - - 
  1 912 088 752 24 764 368 43 377 260 1 980 230 380 

 
 
2021 

 
 

Stage 1 

 
 

Stage 2 

 
 

Stage 3 

 
 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year 1 205 668 243 13 121 661 7 533 700 1  226 323 604 
Transfers * 
Transfer to stage 1 

- 
940 891 

- 
( 940 891) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Transfer to stage 2 (13 237 235) 13 237 235 - - 
Transfer to stage 3 (19 763 799) (1 698 518) 21 462 317 - 
Net movements for the year 539 663 330 (8 648 675) 35 185 426 566 200 081 

Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount) (488 513 967) (2 471 953) (3 180 454) (494 166 374) 
New financial assets purchased **        1 067 400 984 1 521 679 39 608 315        1 108 530 978 
Financial assets that have been derecognised (39 223 687) (7 698 401) (1 242 435) (48 164 523) 

Credit losses written-off ***  - - (3 410 707) (3 410 707) 
   1 713 271 430 15 070 812 60 770 736 1 789 112 978 

 

Reconciliation of loans and advances to customers 
Government 
2022  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
Balance at the beginning of the year 3 728 961 - - 3 728 961 
Transfers *  - - -  - 
Transfer to stage 1 - - - - 
Transfer to stage 2 - - - - 
Transfer to stage 3  - - -  - 
Net movements for the year 3 327 182 - - 3 327 182 
Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount) ( 798 713) - - ( 798 713) 
New financial assets purchased ** 6 828 004 - - 6 828 004 
Financial assets that have been derecognised (2 702 109) - - (2 702 109) 
Credit losses written-off ***  - - - -   

7 056 144 - - 7 056 144 
 

 
 

2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - - 
Transfers * - - - - 
Transfer to stage 1 - - - - 
Transfer to stage 2 - - - - 
Transfer to stage 3  - - -  - 
Net movements for the year 3 728 961 - - 3 728 961 
Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount)            - - -           -  
New financial assets purchased ** 3 728 961 - -                           3 728 961 
Financial assets that have been derecognised - - - - 
Credit losses written-off ***  - - - -   

3 728 961 - - 3 728 961 
 

(287 187 568) (3 823 464) ( 767 856) (291 778 888) 
          724 751 149 7 648 949 64 445 732 464 543 

(209 099 988) (1 846 676) (38 621 589) (249 568 253) 
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4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of loans and advances to customers (continued)  
 
2022  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 717 000 391 15 070 812 60 770 736             1 792 841 939 
Transfers *  -  -  -  - 
Transfer to stage 1 8 050 204 (8 050 204) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 (14 450 595) 16 488 238 (2 037 643) - 
Transfer to stage 3 (23 245 880) ( 723 287) 23 969 167 - 
Net movements for the year 231 790 776 1 978 809 (39 325 000) 194 444 585 
Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount) 
New financial assets purchased ** 
Financial assets that have been derecognised 

 

Credit losses written-off ***  - - - -   
1 919 144 896 24 764 368 43 377 260 1 987 286 524 

 
 
2021 

 
 

Stage 1 

 
 

Stage 2 

 
 

Stage 3 

 
 

Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year 1 205 668 243 13 121 661 7 533 700 1 226 323 604 
Transfers * 
Transfer to stage 1 

- 
940 891 

- 
( 940 891) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Transfer to stage 2 (13 237 235) 13 237 235 - - 
Transfer to stage 3 (19 763 799) (1 698 518) 21 462 317 - 
Net movements for the year 543 392 291 (8 648 675) 35 185 426 569 929 042 

Movements for the year (amortisation of capital amount) (488 513 967) (2 471 953) (3 180 454) (494 166 374) 
New financial assets purchased ** 1 071 129 945 1 521 679 39 608 315 1 112 259 939 
Financial assets that have been derecognised (39 223 687) (7 698 401) (1 242 435) (48 164 523) 

Credit losses written-off ***  - - (3 410 707) (3 410 707)   

 1 717 000 391 15 070 812 60 770 736 1 792 841 939 

 
* Transfers occur when the credit stage of an account at the end of the year differs from that at the beginning of the year. 

** New financial assets purchased represents staging of the purchased financial assets as at reporting date. No credit-impaired (stage 3) 
financial assets were purchased during the year under review. 

*** The contractual amount outstanding on loans and advances to customers that were written off during the year that are still subject to 
enforcement activities is R0 (2021: R2 482 420). 

Changes in gross exposures relating to changes in ECL 

During the current year the increase in the gross carrying amount of the loans and advances to customers of R 199 056 564 was primarily 
funded through an issuance of Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR07) with a nominal amount of R 300 000 000 (refer to note 9). 

The decrease in the gross carrying amount of credit-impaired financial assets (stage 3) of R17 393 476 also resulted in a decrease of R2 907 
516 in the stage 3 loss allowance. 

These decreases have been offset by IFRS9 standard methodology applied where Stage 1 will be up to 30 days, Stage 2 reflect 30 to 90 days 
and Stage 3 is the rest of the portfolio over 90 days. This resulted in a R 18 097 907 increase in the allowance for credit losses. 

(287 986 280) (3 823 464) ( 767 856) (292 577 600) 
731 579 153 7 648 949 64 445 739 292 547 

(211 802 097) (1 846 676) (38 621 589) (252 270 362) 
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4. Loans and advances to customers (continued)  

Reconciliation of loss allowances  

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowances for loans and advances to customers. The movement in the net investment 
in leases is also presented in order to assist the explanation of movements in the loss allowance. 

 

Corporate and SME 
2022 

ECL 
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   

Balance at the beginning of the year 14 667 112 619 075 14 578 369 29 864 556 
Transfer to stage 1 * 117 943 ( 117 943) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 * (2 319 879) 2 633 501 ( 313 622) - 
Transfer to stage 3 * 
Credit losses written-off 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 

(15 285 317) ( 426 711) 15 712 028 - 
- - - - 

28 459 136 772 895 (9 080 183) 20 151 848 

Movements for the year ** 24 164 280 349 639 (5 995 501) 18 518 418 
New financial assets purchased *** 7 258 548 767 159 46 401 8 072 107 
Financial assets that have been derecognised (2 963 692) ( 343 903) (3 131 083) (6 438 677) 

 25 638 995 3 480 817 20 896 592 50 016 404 

  
ECL 

2021   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
Balance at the beginning of the year 21 233 250 691 436 7 533 700 29 458 386 
Transfer to stage 1 * 11 950 ( 11 950) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 * ( 609 114) 609 114 - - 
Transfer to stage 3 * (7 604 013) (1 698 518) 9 302 531 - 
Credit losses written-off - - (3 410 707) (3 410 707) 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 1 635 039 1 028 993 1 152 845 3 816 877 

Movements for the year ** (5 102 951) 3 100 905 (2 880 558) (4 882 604) 
New financial assets purchased *** 7 293 935 2 535 5 275 838 12 572 308 
Financial assets that have been derecognised ( 555 945) (2 074 447) (1 242 435) (3 872 827) 

 14 667 112 619 075 14 578 369 29 864 556 
 

Government ECL 

2022  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Transfer to stage 1 * 
Transfer to stage 2 * 
Transfer to stage 3 * 
Credit losses written-off 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 

51 340 
- 
- 
- 
- 

( 15 645) 

- - 51 340 
- - - 
- - - 
- - - 
- - - 
- - ( 15 645) 

Movements for the year ** ( 37 310) - - ( 37 310) 
New financial assets purchased *** 25 361 - - 25 361 
Financial assets that have been derecognised ( 3 696) - - ( 3 696) 

 35 695 - - 35 695 
 

ECL 
2021  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   

 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Transfer to stage 1 * 
Transfer to stage 2 * 
Transfer to stage 3 * 
Credit losses written-off 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

51 340 

- - - 
- - - 
- - - 
- - - 
- - - 
- - 51 340 

Movements for the year ** 
New financial assets purchased *** 
Financial assets that have been derecognised 

- 
               51 340 

- 

- -     - 
- -                               51 340 
- - - 

 51 340 - - 51 340 
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4. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

 

Reconciliation of loss allowances (continued)  
2022 

 

ECL 
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   

Balance at the beginning of the year 14 718 452 619 075 14 578 369 29 915 896 
Transfer to stage 1 * 117 943 ( 117 943) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 * (2 319 879) 2 633 501 ( 313 622) - 
Transfer to stage 3 * 
Credit losses written-off 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 

(15 285 317) ( 426 711) 15 712 028 - 
- - - - 

28 443 491 772 895 (9 080 183) 20 136 203 

Movements for the year ** 24 126 969 349 639 (5 995 501) 18 481 107 
New financial assets purchased *** 7 283 909 767 159 46 401 8 097 469 
Financial assets that have been derecognised (2 967 387) ( 343 903) (3 131 083) (6 442 373) 

 25 674 690 3 480 817 20 896 592 50 052 099 

  
ECL 

2021   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
Balance at the beginning of the year 21 233 250 691 436 7 533 700 29 458 386 
Transfer to stage 1 * 11 950 ( 11 950) - - 
Transfer to stage 2 * ( 609 114) 609 114 - - 
Transfer to stage 3 * (7 604 013) (1 698 518) 9 302 531 - 
Credit losses written-off - - (3 410 707) (3 410 707) 
Impairment charge to profit or loss 1 686 379 1 028 993 1 152 845 3 868 217 

Movements for the year ** (5 102 951) 3 100 905 (2 880 558) (4 882 604) 
New financial assets purchased *** 7 345 275 2 535 5 275 838 12 623 648 
Financial assets that have been derecognised ( 555 945) (2 074 447) (1 242 435) (3 872 827) 

 14 718 452 619 075 14 578 369 29 915 896 
 

* Transfers of ECL occur when the credit stage of an account at the end of the year differs from that at the beginning of the year. 

** Movements for the year relate to the change in expected credit losses due to the amortisation of loans, the movement in arrears and a 
change in either the probability of default or loss given default. 

*** ECL on new financial assets purchased represents staging of the purchased financial assets as at reporting date. No credit-impaired (stage 
3) financial assets were purchased during the year under review. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 143 716 213 153 837 736 
 

Bank balances 
 

The potential of expected credit loss has been assessed and deemed to be negligible. The bank accounts are not ceded, the funds are available immediately and 
none of the cash is restricted. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates the carrying amount due to the short-term nature thereof. 

 

6. Amounts due from group companies 
 

Fellow subsidiaries  
Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited 9 534 503 4 169 225 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited  27 713 579 28 904 812 
MWAR Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited  2 196 968 -   

39 445 050 33 074 037 
 

 

Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited collects the cash and cash equivalents as an agent for MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited and these amounts are 
transferred within three working days of receiving the funds. No interest is payable. 

 
The balances with Merchant West Proprietary Limited and MWAR Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited are short-term in nature and relates to collections of 
early settlements or instalments received from customers paid incorrectly by customer to Merchant West Proprietary Limited. These amounts are paid over as 
per normal business when allocations have been determined. 

 
Split between non-current and current portions  
Non-current assets 
Current assets 

- - 
  39 445 050 33 074 037   

39 445 050 33 074 037 
 

Credit loss allowances 

The following tables set out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of expected credit losses for trade receivables by credit rating grade: 
 

2022 Internal credit 
rating 

Basis of loss 
allowance 

Gross receivable     Loss allowance Carrying amount 

 
 

Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited Performing 12m ECL 9 534 503 - 9 534 503 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited Performing 12m ECL  27 713 579 - 27 713 579 
MWAR Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited Performing 12m ECL    2 196 968 -   2 196 968   

39 445 050 - 39 445 050 
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  6. Amounts due from group companies (continued) 

    

2021 Internal credit 
rating 

Basis of loss 
allowance 

Gross receivable     Loss allowance Carrying amount 

Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited Performing 12m ECL 4 169 225 - 4 169 225 

 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited Performing 12m ECL  28 904 812 - 28 904 812   

33 074 037 - 33 074 037 
 

 
 

7. Other receivables 
 

Non-financial instruments:  

Prepayments - 136 642 

VAT Receivable   - 5 053 561   

- 5 190 203 
 

 

Fair value of other receivables 
 

The fair value of other receivables approximates their carrying amounts due to their short-term nature. 
 

8. Share capital 
 

Authorised 

1 000 Ordinary no par value shares 

 

100 No par value preference shares   
The authorised share capital was increased through the creation of 100 no par value preference shares in 2017.   

Issued 
120 Ordinary no par value shares 

 

120 

 

120 
  1 No par value preference share  1 1  

121 121 
 

 

On the 18 November 2016, the preference shareholder subscribed for one no par value preference share for a subscription price of R 1. The issued shares are 
fully paid for. 
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9. Borrowings – listed notes 

 

Held at amortised cost 
Secured 

Class A Floating Rate Notes 

 
 
 

 
1 559 987 566 1 458 470 364 

 

 

Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current liabilities 1 100 000 000 1 250 000 000 
Current liabilities   459 987 566  208 470 364  

1 559 987 566 1 458 470 364 
 

 

Class A Floating Rate Notes 

On the 9 November 2016 a R 2 500 000 000 loan receivables Backed Note Programme was registered with the JSE Limited. 

On 18 November 2016, the Company issued Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR01) with a nominal amount of R 450 000 000. The issuance comprised floating rate 
notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3- month JIBAR plus 210 basis points. These notes were settled on 22 
November 2019 with the proceeds of the issuance of new notes (MWAR04). 

On 29 March 2018, the Company issued additional Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR02) with a nominal amount of R 300 000 000. The issuance comprised 
floating rate notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3-month JIBAR plus 200 basis points. These notes were settled 
on 22 February 2021 with the proceeds of the issuance of new notes (MWAR06). 

On 22 November 2018, the Company issued additional Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR03) with a nominal amount of R 200 000 000. The issuance comprised 
floating rate notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3-month JIBAR plus 190 basis points. These notes were   settled 
on 22 November 2021 with the proceeds of the issuance of new notes (MWAR07). 

On 22 November 2019, the Company issued Class A Floating Rate Notes as (MWAR04) with a nominal amount of R 450 000 000. The issuance comprised floating 
rate notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3- month JIBAR plus 190 basis points. At 31 March 2022 this interest rate 
was 6.092%. The proceeds were used to settle MWAR01 notes above. Maturity date: 22 November 2022. 

On 04 September 2020, the Company issued Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR05) with a nominal amount of R 300 000 000. The issuance comprised floating 
rate notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3- month JIBAR plus 230 basis points. At 31 March 2022 this interest 
rate was 6.492%. The proceeds purchased additional participating assets. Maturity date: 22 November 2023. 

On 22 February 2021, the Company issued Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR06) with a nominal amount of R 500 000 000. The issuance comprised floating rate 
notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3-month JIBAR plus 230 basis points. At 31 March 2022 this interest rate 
was 6.492%. R 300 000 000 of the proceeds were used to settle MWAR02 notes above, with the remaining R 200 000 000 used to purchase additional participating 
assets. Maturity date: 22 February 2024. 

On 22 November 2021, the Company issued Class A Floating Rate Notes (MWAR07) with a nominal amount of R 300 000 000. The issuance comprised floating rate 
notes with a tenor of three years. The floating notes were issued at an interest rate of 3-month JIBAR plus 220 basis points. At 31 March 2022 this interest rate 
was 6.392%. R 200 000 000 of the proceeds were used to settle MWAR03 notes above, with the remaining R 100 000 000 used to purchase additional participating 
assets. Maturity date: 22 November 2024. 

The Notes were rated za.AAA (sf) by S&P Global Ratings in the 2017 financial year and were rated AAA(za)(sf) by Global Credit Ratings in the 2018, 2019, 2021, 
2021 and 2022 financial year. The Notes are listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. 

Loans and advances to customers were provided as security in relation to the issuing of Class A Floating Rate Notes (refer to note 4). 

The fair values are not materially different from their carrying amounts, as the interest payable on those borrowings is close to current market rates. 
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10. Subordinated loan 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited (Capital) 221 399 156 221 399 156 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited (Interest)  780 223 664 416   

222 179 379 222 063 572 
 

 
Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current liability 221 399 156 221 399 156 
Current liability  780 223 664 416   

222 179 379 222 063 572 
 

 

The subordinated loan is contractually the most subordinate form of debt and can only be repaid when all other liabilities have been settled as governed by the 
priority of payments. The shareholder (in terms of a shareholder resolution) resolved that the subordinated loan within the Company will have a maturity period 
of no more than twenty-nine years. 

 
 

The interest payable to the subordinated loan provider (Merchant West Proprietary Limited) in arrears at a rate of 3-month JIBAR plus 1000 basis points nominal 
annual compounded quarterly in arrears. The interest payments under the subordinated loan are made only to the extent permitted by (and in accordance with) 
the priority of payments. The priority of payments is approved by Nedbank, the administrator, on a monthly basis (refer to notes 14 and 23). 

 
11. Deferred tax 

Deferred tax liability 

  

Recoupments and wear and tear (394 739 588) (363 215 554) 
Instalments from loans and advances to customers 426 938 178 386 947 368 
Allowance for uncollectible minimum loan payments receivable (13 726 359) (7 362 963) 
Accrual for expenses  ( 238 714) ( 84 940)   

18 233 517 16 283 911 

 
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability) 

  
At the beginning of the year 16 283 911 8 301 472 
Loan instalments 39 990 810 108 405 039 
Accrual for expenses ( 153 774) ( 84 940) 
Recoupments and wear and tear (31 524 033) (99 369 949) 
Allowance for uncollectible minimum loan payments receivable (6 363 397) 842 276 
Adjustment to prior year deferred tax  - (1 809 987)   

                                                                                                                                                                         18 233 517                      16 283 911 
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12. Trade and other payables 

Financial instruments: 
Accrued audit and rating fees 416 678 440 000 
Accrued expenses  92 094 116 315   

 

 508 772 556 315 
Non-financial instruments: 

Instalments received in advance 

 

371 217 

 

691 380 
Value added taxation  1 286 418 -   

2 166 407 1 247 695 
 

 
Fair value of trade and other payables 

The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying amounts due to their short-term nature. 
 

13. Interest income 

Interest received (Loans and advances to customers) 

 
 
     219 540 283                 182 756 584

     Interest received (Banks)            5 262 660           3 911 734  
224 802 943  186 668 318 

 

 

99.23% (2021: 99.48%) of loans and advances to customers have a floating rate basis. The weighted yield on floating rate loans and advances to customers 
measured 3.68% (2021: 3.86%) above the prime interest rate. 

 

0.77% (2021: 0.52%) of the loans and advances to customers have a fixed rate basis. The weighted average yield on fixed rate loans and advances to customers 
measured 13.17% (2021: 14.07%). 

 

14. Interest  expense 
Interest expense - Class A Floating Rate Notes 87 624 880 67 891 956 
Interest expense - Subordinated loan  30 517 896 25 444 412   

118 142 776 93 336 368 
 

 
15. Non-interest income 

 

Ancillary rental income 14 160 606 18 131 999 
Settlement profit 10 327 283 8 410 372 
Sundry income  1 515 405 191 437   

26 003 294 26 733 808 
 

 
16. Impairment charges 
Allowance for credit losses (refer note 4)  19 930 131 3 868 217   

19 930 131 3 868 217 
 



  MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited 
   (Registration number 2002/030074/06) 
   Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 

43 
 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
             

 

Figures in Rand                                2022                    2021 
 

 
 

17. Other operating expenses 
 

Servicing fees 946 758 735 799 
Calculation agent fees 354 201 574 742 
Audit fees 671 070 440 000 
Credit rating fees 439 875 370 500 
Back-up servicing fees 194 250 329 603 
Non-executive director fees 175 247 168 693 
Bank charges 140 593 124 281 
Administration fees ( 51 918) 116 338 
Legal fees 121 353 103 278 
Secretarial fees  28 628 36 442   

3 020 057 2 999 676 
 

 
18. Profit before taxation 

 

Profit before taxation for the year is stated after charging the following, amongst others:  

Auditor’s remuneration – external 

Audit fees 

 
 

671 070 

 
 

440 000 

Remuneration, other than to employees   
Secretarial services 28 628 36 442 

19. Taxation 

Major components of the tax expense 

Current 

Local income tax – current period 
 

Deferred 
 

Originating and reversing temporary differences 

 
28 724 947 21 845 750 

 

 
1 994 769 9 849 652 

Over provision of deferred tax for prior periods  ( 45 163) (1 867 213)   
30 674 553 29 828 189 

 

 
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense: 

 
Accounting profit 

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2021: 28%) 
 

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income 
 

Adjustment to prior year deferred tax 

109 713 273 113 197 865 

 
30 719 716 

 
31 695 402 

 
( 45 163) 

 
(1 867 213) 

30 674 553 29 828 189 
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20. Cash generated from operations 

 

Profit before taxation 
Adjustments for: 

109 713 273 113 197 865 

Impairment allowances accrued 19 930 131 3 868 217 
Class A Floating Rate notes – interest expense (Refer note 23) 77 637 313 59 421 592 
Class A Floating Rate notes – accrued interest expense (Refer note 23) 9 987 567 8 470 364 
Subordinated loan – interest expense (Refer note 23) 29 737 673 24 779 996 
Subordinated loan – accrued interest expense (Refer note 23) 780 223 664 416 
Interest received (213 149 120) (184 688 492) 
Interest received - accrued interest income 
Changes in working capital: 

(11 653 823) (1 979 826) 

Other receivables decrease/(increase) 5 190 203 (5 053 561) 
Trade and other payables increase/(decrease) 918 712 ( 313 784) 

 29 092 152 18 366 787 

 
21. Income taxes paid 

  
Balance at the beginning of the year (5 200 757) 148 356 
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss 28 724 947 21 845 750 
Balance at the end of the year (6 626 867) 5 200 757 

 16 897 323 27 194 863 
 

22. Dividends paid 

Dividends attributable to owners          30 000 000  
 

Dividends are paid from trading profits.  Dividends per share – R30 000 000. 
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23. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

 
The changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows: 

 

2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Borrowings: Class A Floating Rate Notes 

- Capital 

 
 
1 450 000 000 - (200 000 000) 300 000 000 - 1 550 000 000 

- Interest (Refer to note 20)  8 470 364 77 637 313 (86 107 678) - 9 987 567  9 987 566 

 1 458 470 364 77 637 313 (286 107 678) 300 000 000 9 987 567 1 559 987 566 

Subordinated Loan  
- Capital 221 399 156 - - - - 221 399 156 
- Interest (Refer to note 20) 664 416 29 737 673 (30 402 089) - 780 223 780 223 

 222 063 572 29 737 673 (30 402 089) - 780 223 222 179 379 

 
 

2021 

 
 
 
 

Borrowings: Class A Floating Rate Notes 
- Capital 

 

950 000 000 - (300 000 000) 800 000 000 - 1 450 000 000 
- Interest (Refer to note 20) 7 939 627 59 421 592 (67 361 219) - 8 470 364  8 470 364 

 957 939 627 59 421 592 (367 361 219) 800 000 000 8 470 364 1 458 470 364 

Subordinated Loan  
- Capital 145 645 000 - - 75 754 156 221 399 156 
- Interest (Refer to note 20) 2 424 618 24 779 996 (27 204 614) - 664 416 664 416 

148 069 618 24 779 996 (27 204 614) 75 754 156 664 416 222 063 572 

Opening 
balance as at 

Cash-flows: Total non-cash 
movements 

Closing balance as at 
31 March 2022 

Repayment of / Advances to Proceeds 
Amount 
disclosed in 
Statement of 
Cash Flows 

Cash portion Amount 
through profit     disclosed in 
or loss in the Statement of 
current year Cash Flows 

 

Opening 
balance as at 
01 April 2020 

Cash-flows: Total non-cash 
movements 

Closing balance as at 
31 March 2021 Repayment of / Advances to Proceeds 

Amount 
disclosed in 
Statement of 
Cash Flows 

Cash portion Amount 
through profit     disclosed in 
or loss in the Statement of 
current year Cash Flows 
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24. Related parties 

Relationships 

Ultimate controlling company Merchant West Holdings Proprietary Limited 
Securitisation company Merchant West Proprietary Limited 
Holding entity MWAR Owner Trust 
Affiliate companies MWAR Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited 

Merchant West Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Capital Finance Proprietary Limited 
Revfin Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Specialised Finance Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Working Capital Solutions Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Working Capital Solutions (RF) Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Capital Markets Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Fleet Proprietary Limited 
Ariva Rentals Proprietary Limited 
SD Finance Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Finance Namibia Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Property Finance Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Metal Finance LLC (USA) 
Incompass Proprietary Limited 

 Dirt Diggers Proprietary Limited 
Revfin Rentals Proprietary Limited 
POS Rentals Proprietary Limited 
Merchant West Rentals 1 Proprietary Limited 
Sterling Wealth Proprietary Limited 
Counterpoint Boutique Proprietary Limited 
Bridge Fund Managers Holdings Proprietary Limited 

Directors Refer to note 7 in the Directors’ Report 
 

 
  

Related party balances 2022                                           2021 
 

 

Owing  by related parties 
 

Merchant West Collections SPV Proprietary Limited                           9 534 503                4 169 225  
 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited 

     

                                         27 713 579     28 904 812  

  MWAR Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited                                           2 196 968                                   -   

Subordinated Loan account – Owing to related party      

Merchant West Proprietary Limited 
 
 
Related party transactions 

                                      222 179 379  222 063 572  

Interest received from related party 
 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited 

 
 
Servicing fees paid to related party 

  
 
            30 517 896                                25 444 412 

 

 
Merchant West Proprietary Limited 

  
               946 758                                      735 799                    
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25. Financial instruments and risk management 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
 

2022  Notes Amortised cost Total   
Loans and advances to customers 4 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Amounts due from group companies 6   39 445 050  39 445 050   

2 120 395 688 2 120 395 688 
 

 

Categories of financial liabilities Notes Amortised cost Total 
 

 

Borrowings  9 1 559 987 566 1 559 987 566 
Subordinated loan 10  222 179 379  222 179 379 
Trade and other payables 12   508 772  508 772   

1 782 675 717 1 782 675 717 
 

    

  
 2021 

 
Notes 

 
Amortised cost 

 
Total 

 
     

    Loans and advances to customers                 4 1 762 926 043 1 762 926 043 
  Cash and cash equivalents                5  153 837 736  153 837 736 

Amounts due from group companies 6   33 074 037  33 074 037  
1 949 837 816 1 949 837 816 

 
Categories of financial liabilities 

 
Notes 

 
Amortised cost 

 
Total 

Borrowings  9 1 458 470 364 1 458 470 364 
Subordinated loan 10 222 063 572 222 063 572 
Trade and other payables  12  556 315 556 315   

1 681 090 251 1 681 090 251 

Capital risk management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s management takes 
responsibility for the pricing of products and services so as to provide superior returns commensurate with the level of risk. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 9 and 10, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 
5, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position. The Company defines capital as equity funding provided by shareholders and debt funding 
from external parties. Shareholder funding comprises permanent paid up capital, share premium, revenue and other reserves together with loans from 
shareholders.

 1 937 234 425 1 937 234 425 
5  143 716 213  143 716 213 
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25. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the followings 
gearing ratio: 

 

 
  2022 2021   

Net Debt 1 638 450 732 1 526 696 200 
Adjusted Equity (Total Equity plus Subordinated loan)     532 601 108 483 562 390 

 

Net debt to equity ratio     308%        316% 
                                                                                                                                                                          

 

Under the terms of the Program Memorandum, the minimum asset cover ratio may not fall below 128.0%. The Company has complied with this covenant 
throughout the reporting period. 

Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk 

and liquidity risk. The Company has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet payment obligations when they fall due or that insufficient funds are available to meet loan 
demands in the ordinary course of business. 

The Company’s objectives in relation to liquidity risk management are to manage the contractual mismatch between cash inflows from assets and cash 
outflows to settle liabilities, to fund the expected balance sheet growth and to meet all cash outflow commitments 

The monitoring and reporting of liquidity risk takes the form of, as a minimum: 

1.) cash flow projections to settlement of longest dated funding obligations 

2.) an analysis of the Company’s borrowing facilities 

3.) maturity profile and concentration of liability by counterparty and 

4.) asset maturities and borrowing facility obligations. 

The Company’s debt capital markets (DCM) team is responsible for executing on fund raising mandates. The DCM team and finance team are also responsible 
for the ongoing monitoring of asset portfolio performance and its impact on funder obligations including covenants. Prudent liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through adequate committed credit facilities. Management monitors rolling forecasts of 
the Company’s liquidity headroom on the basis of expected cash flows. This process is performed during each financial year end for five years forward in 
term of the Company’s long term planning process. There are no borrowings and loans redeemable on demand and there are no unrecognised liabilities. 
The table below analyses financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date to the contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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25. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

  

At 31 March 2022 < 1 month > 1 month <= 
3months 

>3 months <=1   >1 year <=5 years 
year 

> 5 years Total 

    Loans and advances to customers 134 499 993 165 655 434 682 299 646 1 373 405 670 877 395                2 356 738 138 
Cash and cash equivalents 143 716 213 - - - - 143 716 213 

  Amounts due from group companies 39 445 050 - - - - 39 445 050 
Borrowings - (24 292 821) (517 318 608) (1 180 593 992) - (1 722 205 421) 
Subordinated loan - (7 833 539) (23 500 616) (273 995 773) - (305 329 928) 
Trade and other payables - ( 508 772) - - - ( 508 772) 
Liquidity gap 317 661 256 133 020 302 141 480 422 (81 184 095) 877 395 511 855 280 
Cumulative liquidity gap   317 661 256 450 681 558 592 161 980 510 977 885 511 855 280  

 
 
 

At 31 March 2021 < 1 month > 1 month <= 
3months 

>3 months <=1   >1 year <=5 years 
year 

> 5 years Total 

    Loans and advances to customers 113 455 868 147 684 924 595 482 344 1 277 246 684 6 175 466                2 140 045 286 
Cash and cash equivalents 153 837 736 - - - - 153 837 736 

  Amounts due from group companies 33 074 037 - - - - 33 074 037 
Borrowings - (20 782 356) (260 682 663)  (1 334 634 795) - (1 616 099 814) 
Subordinated loan - (7 557 730) (22 673 190) (274 552 423) - (304 783 343) 
Trade and other payables - ( 556 315) - - - ( 556 315) 
Liquidity gap 300 367 641 118 788 523 312 126 491 (331 940 534) 6 175 466 405 517 587 
Cumulative liquidity gap   300 367 641 419 156 164 731 282 655 399 342 121 405 517 587   

 
Interest rate risk 
The Company’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The risk is 
managed by creating a natural hedge by borrowing and lending at variable rates. Surplus cash flows exposed to interest rate risk are placed with institutions 
and facilities which yield the highest rate return.
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25. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
 

The sensitivity analysis is prepared based on financial instruments that are recognised at the end of the reporting period. This is the case even where those 
exposures did not exist for the entire period or where the exposure changed materially during the period. The sensitivity that is applied is the amount that 
could reasonably be expected to occur, and has been determined as 100 basis points up or down. The effect of a 1% change in interest rates is shown below. 

 
These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. 

 
 
 

31 March 2022 

 
Effect on profit before tax of 1% 

change in rates 

 
Total carrying value of asset class 

 

Assets 
Loans and advances to customers 19 372 344 1937 234 425  
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

Liabilities 

1 437 162 143 716 213 

Borrowings (15 599 876) (1559 987 566) 
Subordinated loan  (2 221 794) (222 179 379)   
Net exposure  2 987 836 298 783 693   

 
 
 

31 March 2021 

Effect on profit before tax of 1% 
change in rates 

Total carrying value of asset class 

 

Assets 
Loans and advances to customers 

 
 

17 629 260 1762 926 043 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 538 377 153 837 736 
Liabilities 
Borrowings (14 584 704) (1458 470 364) 
Subordinated loan  (2 220 636) (222 063 572)   
Net exposure  2 362 297 236 229 843   

 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and loans and advances to customers. 

 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 credit ratings for all consumers in Stage 2 and 3 were downgraded by one risk grade, as an overlay for increased risk, due 
to the South African future economic outlook (recession pressures, such as rising interest rates, inflation and petrol price increases). Oil and gas industries as 
well as Construction industries were further downgraded by another one risk grade, as an overlay for increased risk as a result of political events 
(Russia/Ukraine war) and the effect the war will have on the supply chain. The inclusion of these stress scenarios are temporary measures to capture the 
uncertainty. . For the purpose of the sensitivity analysis, the change in one risk grading (up or down) on the allowance for credit losses as at reporting date 
was performed and represents the amount that could reasonably be expected to occur. The effect of the change in credit grading on the allowance for credit 
losses is shown below: 

 

2022 +1 Risk Grading    -1 Risk Grading 
 

 

 
Stage 1 16 786 ( 11 873) 
Stage 2 - - 
Stage 3  - -   
Total effect on allowance for credit 16 786 ( 11 873) 
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25. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. 
 

Credit risk is reduced by the following: 
Maximum exposure to any one client is limited to 3.0% of the aggregate net present value of the loans and advances to 
customers. 
Maximum exposure of the top five clients is limited to 12.5% of the aggregate net present value of the loans and advances to customers. 

 
Maximum exposure to the top ten clients is limited to 20.0% of the aggregate net present value of the loans and advances to customers. Maximum exposure 

to the top thirty clients is limited to 40.00% of the aggregate net present value of the loans and advances to customers. 

The minimum asset cover ratio may not fall below 128.0%. 
 

There have been no changes to the required covenant ratios compared to those of the prior period. The Company was compliant with the above ratios for 
the full 2022 financial year. 

 
Credit enhancement is achieved as the underlying equipment is held as collateral and in certain instances cross-company guarantees and personal surety 
have also been granted by the lessee. 

The Group Credit Committee uses internally developed models and practices to measure and manage credit risk, by utilising skilled resources to ensure it is 
properly managed and controlled. 

 
Due to the general nature of the base assets, the users are spread over almost all market sectors. The target market includes qualitative and quantitative 
assessment of the credit-worthiness of all potential clients and an analysis of all relating risks pertaining to the underlying exposure to each transaction. 

 
The Company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty. 

 

26. Events after the reporting period 
 

Procedures performed by management up to 29 July 2022, did not identify additional information that requires these judgements and estimates to be 
updated. Management performed a detailed assessment of events after the reporting period and any consequent potential impact on the annual financial 
statements and concluded that the financial statement disclosure was appropriate. 

 
27. Going concern 

The directors believe that the Company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and accordingly the annual 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company has no credit facilities or borrowings, other that the listed notes (refer note 
9) and the subordinated loan (refer note 10). The directors have satisfied themselves that the Company is in a sound financial position and that there is 
sufficient demand for the Company’s listed notes to meet its foreseeable funding requirements. The Company intends to settle R450 000 000 Class A Floating 
Rate Notes by issuing new debt to the same value on the maturity date of 22 November 2022. The R450 000 000 has been classified as a current liability 
thereby reducing the current current ratio in the current financial period, which the directors still deem to be reasonable.. The directors are not aware of any 
new material changes that may adversely impact the Company. 



MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited 
(Registration number 2002/030074/06) 
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

52 
 

 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
 

 

Figures in Rand    
 

 

 
27. Going concern (continued) 

 

The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which 
may affect the Company. 

The directors have not identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  The ongoing impacts of Covid-
19 was taken into account and the directors consider the going concern basis of accounting appropriate for the ensuing twelve-month period. 

 
28. Directors’ emoluments 

 
Executive 

2022 Emoluments Bonus 

 
 

Pension and 
expense 

allowance 

 

 
Other Total 

benefits 

 

 

MJ Ross 942 076 210 000 178 436 10 488 1 341 000 
P Lochner  805 864 - 60 440 8 695 874 999   

1 747 940 210 000 238 876 19 183 2 215 999 
 

 

2021 Emoluments Bonus Pension and 
expense 

allowance 

Other Total 
benefits 

 

P Tredoux 945 777 - 133 062 - 1 078 839 
M Joubert  234 907 165 000 46 437 - 446 344   

1 180 684 165 000 179 499 - 1 525 183 
 

 
Executive director fees are paid by Merchant West Proprietary Limited for management services provided to MW Asset Rentals (RF) Limited. 

 
Independent non-executive 

2022 

R Thanthony 
MJ Pitout 
BL Dube 

 
2021 
R Thanthony 
MJ Pitout 
OH Shabangu 
BL Dube 

 
Independent non-executive directors fees are paid to TMF Corporate Services (South Africa) Proprietary Limited who supply the services of independent 
non-executive directors. A total of R 175 247 (2021: R 168 693) was paid to TMF Corporate Services (South Africa) Proprietary Limited. 
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Detailed Income Statement 
 

 

 Figures in Rand               Notes              2022        2021 
 

 

 
 

Interest income 13 224 802 943 186 668 318 
Interest expense 14 (118 142 776) (93 336 368) 

Net interest income 
Non-interest income 

 
15 

106 660 167 93 331 950 

Ancillary rental income  14 160 606 18 131 999 
Settlement profit  10 327 283 8 410 372 
Sundry income  1 515 405 191 437   
Non-interest income total 26 003 294 26 733 808 

 

Total Income 132 663 461 120 065 758 
Impairment charges 16  (19 930 131) (3 868 217)   
Gross income 112 733 330 116 197 541 

 

 
 

Other operating expenses 
Administration fees 

17  

51 918 

 

( 116 338) 
Audit fees  ( 671 070) ( 440 000) 
Back-up servicing fees  ( 194 250) ( 329 603) 
Bank charges  ( 140 593) ( 124 281) 
Calculation agent fees  ( 354 201) ( 574 742) 
Credit rating fees  ( 439 875) ( 370 500) 
Legal Fees  ( 121 353) ( 103 278) 
Non-executive director fees  ( 175 247) ( 168 693) 
Secretarial fees  ( 28 628) ( 36 442) 
Servicing fees  ( 946 758) ( 735 799)   

 (3 020 057) (2 999 676) 

Profit before taxation 18 109 713 273 113 197 865 
Taxation 19  (30 674 553) (29 828 189)   
Profit for the year 79 038 720 83 369 676 

 

 
 
 
 

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited. 
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